RECEIVED

May 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAYLEN WESTLY BELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001541

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court reversibly erred in admitting into evidence an autopsy photograph depicting the decedent's foot with a rod shoved through the gunshot wound where the cause of death was neither caused by the wound to decedent's foot, nor was the cause of death at issue, and where the wound was illustrated by other evidence?

II.

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by permitting the State to impeach Appellant with photos from social media posts depicting Appellant with guns where the photos were never entered into evidence, yet where the State orally published the extrinsic evidence to the jury by describing and mischaracterizing the gun in the photo as the "exact same gun" used by Appellant in the present case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jaylen Westly Bell was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury on April 14, 2022, for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense. R. 9, ll. 1-9; R. 13, ll. 3-24; R. 540-543. An immunity hearing was held on February 18, 2022, before the Honorable Alison Renee Lee. Appellant was represented by Zoe Bruck and Kathleen Warthen, while Dale Scott represented the State. In a written order signed on June 23, 2022, Judge Lee denied Appellant immunity from trial. R. 527-535.

Appellant's case then proceeded to trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood and a jury from September 6th through 9th, 2022. R. 1.¹ Appellant was again represented by Zoe Bruck and Kathleen Warthen, while Dale Scott and Walt Whitmire represented the State. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty on both charges, and the trial court imposed the following concurrent sentences: thirty-five (35) years for murder; and five (5) years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent offense. R. 511, l. 18—R. 512, l. 4; R. 523, l. 19—R. 524, l. 2.

¹ A mistrial was declared in the first attempt to try Appellant's case due to COVID complications. R 9, l. 17—R. 10, l. 10.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 9:00 p.m. on November 24, 2019, Appellant Jaylen Westly Bell, his girlfriend Stephanie Jackson (Jackson), Jackson's infant child (Infant), and Appellant's cousin Jaquala Scipio (Jaquala) all arrived at the home of his Aunt Neco Millhouse (Neco) in Columbia, South Carolina. Appellant stayed outside by the burn barrel in the yard along with his cousin Cornelius Green. Jaquala, Jackson, and Infant went inside; Jaquala was going to get a plate of lasagna for Appellant that was made earlier in the day, and Jackson was going to wash bottles and get milk for Infant. R. 71, ll. 7-12; R. 94, l. 23—R. 95, l. 5; R. 108, ll. 6-7; R. 237, l. 16—R. 138, l. 7; R. 360, l. 6—R. 361, l. 7. Neco and her husband Melzie Hammond (Hammond) were inside the small home asleep in their bedroom at the time. R. 110, ll. 17-25; R. 143, ll. 3-5; R. 182, ll. 7-12; R. 185, ll. 14-15. Jaquala's teenage daughter (Minor) was inside as well. R. 138, ll. 5-8.

Once inside, Jackson washed baby bottles in the kitchen, while Jaquala checked on her boyfriend, Demetrius "Meatball" Floyd (Meatball) in the back bedroom where they occasionally stayed. R. 68, l. 24—R. 69, l. 20; R. 138, l. 4—R. 139, l. 18; R. 178, ll. 17-22; R. 179, ll. 11-16. Jaquala and Meatball were heard arguing through the closed door, and they both eventually came out into the kitchen. Jackson was still washing bottles and Minor was changing Infant's diapers when Jackson heard somebody get smacked. R. 138, l. 16—R. 140, l. 11. According to Jaquala, Meatball—who had been drinking that day—physically abused her in the kitchen in front of Minor. R. 198, ll. 3-23. Minor responded, saying "that's not cool," and asked to be taken to her father's home. Shortly after, Meatball made a comment, reached down to pick-up Infant, and was told not to do so by Jackson. Meatball swatted at Infant as Infant was picked-up by Jackson.

Jackson took Infant and went outside to her car with Minor. R. 140, ll. 6-25; R. 190, l. 16—R. 191, l. 9.

Appellant went to the car after finishing his cigarette and seeing Jackson, Minor, and Infant come outside; the four then began to leave Neco's. He asked Jackson what happened, and Minor briefly told him what occurred. Although Appellant was aware of Meatball's prior conduct toward Jaquala, he was surprised that it happened in front of Minor. Appellant offered to have Minor stay with Jackson and him rather than her father's home, and Minor agreed. R. 360, l. 10—R. 365, l. 19. They turned the car around at the end of Neco's driveway and stopped back in front of the home. Minor got out of the car to get her clothes; Appellant went with Minor as well to get lasagna² and to "make sure [Minor] was straight going into the house where it had happened at." R. 365, l. 16—R. 366, l. 11; R. 384, ll. 2-17. Minor went straight to the room she used when at Neco's and gathered clothes. Meanwhile, Appellant saw Jaquala in the kitchen, and noticed her face was red. He asked what was going on, but received no response. R. 366, ll. 13-21. Appellant walked over, checked on Minor as she was gathering clothes, and as he looked down the hall he saw Meatball in the bedroom at the end. R. 366, l. 22—R. 367, l. 4; Defendant's Exhibit #1.

Around 9:30 p.m., Appellant walked to the end bedroom, and stopped at the threshold of the room.³ He saw Meatball sitting toward the head of the bed; Appellant inquired what was going on and why he put his hands on Jaquala in front of Minor. R. 116, l. 17-19; R. 367, ll. 4-

² Appellant was never able to get his lasagna. R. 385, ll. 7-8.

³ According to Jaquala, she believed she heard the door close and that Appellant and Meatball may have been crushing pills. However, Jaquala also admitted she did not see drugs being used by either Appellant or Meatball, and was only assuming they were. Moreover, no drugs were ever found in the back bedroom in particular or in Neco's house in general, nor were any substances other than alcohol found in Meatball's system. R. 191, l. 20—R. 193, ln. 9; R. 205, ll. 6-23; R. 253 ll. 4-8; R. 333, l. 6—R. 334, l. 10.

15. After Meatball gave a response unrelated to what was asked, Appellant simply asked again. R. 367, l. 16—R. 368, l. 7. Meatball responded by threatening to physically assault Appellant. R. 369, ll. 13-21. He stood up and fished in his pocket for what Appellant believed may have been “a knife or something.” R. 369, l. 24—R. 370, l. 3. Rather than pulling out the knife that was later found in his pocket, Meatball instead shoved Appellant, and Appellant shoved him back. R. 214, ll. 15-20; R. 258, ll. 8-10; R. 278, ll. 13-19; R. 370, ll. 4-21. When Meatball shoved Appellant again, Appellant pushed Meatball hard enough that he stumbled onto the bed. R. 370, ll. 22-25.

According to Appellant, Meatball then reached over between the mattress and the wall, produced a silver and black Smith & Wesson 9mm handgun, and pointed it at Appellant while saying, “yeah, yeah.”⁴ R. 371, ll. 1-22. Although scared that Meatball would shoot and kill him, Appellant tried to think fast and told Meatball that “he could pump fake⁵ all he wanted to, that I wasn’t scared.” R. 371, ll. 23-25; R. 372, l. 25—R. 373, l. 4. Meatball briefly looked up the hall past Appellant. Appellant took the opportunity to shove Meatball’s left hand holding the gun against the doorframe, disarmed Meatball and shoved him back towards the bed. R. 373, ll. 10-15; R. 375, ll. 2-23. As Meatball fell back, Appellant told him to calm down; however, Meatball stumbled, hit the bed, and bounced back up, lunging toward Appellant with a closed fist. Appellant closed his eyes, and in “the heat of the moment” shot the 9mm pistol approximately

⁴ Although Neco had a rule that guns and drugs were not allowed in her house, she acknowledged that she did not search the bedroom or mattress used by Jaquala and Meatball. R. 70, ll. 2-5; R. 78, ll. 4-13.

⁵ Appellant indicated “pump fake” was in reference to a basketball term, and agreed that in his situation it meant he was “telling Meatball [he] can’t get a reaction out of me” in an effort to buy time. R. 372, ll. 1-24.

eight (8) times.⁶ R. 376, l. 1—R. 377, l. 12; R. 408, ll. 4-16. Appellant indicated he then left the back bedroom, and threw the pistol onto the couch.⁷ R. 377, ll. 13-18.

Jackson remained in the car with the music turned on trying to keep Infant from being fussy for approximately five (5) to seven (7) minutes. She observed Minor walk out of Neco's house, pause for a moment by the steps, and then continue coming to the car. Appellant soon followed, and the four drove to Jackson's home. R. 147, l. 17—R. 150, l. 14; 377, ll. 20-24. Appellant was quiet and calm, but Jackson explained Appellant is "a quiet person." R. 150, ll. 1-8. Jackson received a call during the drive and asked Appellant what happened, but Appellant did not talk on the ride to Jackson's home in Ridgefield, South Carolina. R. 151, ll. 1-11; R. 152, l. 1-13; R. 377, l. 25—R. 378, l. 6; R. 419, 15-20. After arriving home, Jackson told Appellant he could not stay. Appellant asked to be taken to his relative's home on Colonial Drive, and Jackson dropped him off there. R. 131, ll. 21-23; R. 153, ll. 23; R. 378, ll. 8-15; R. 419, ll. 20-25; R. 424, ll. 6-21. Appellant later went to the home of his brother's girlfriend, where he was arrested at 4:45 a.m. on November 27, 2019. R. 82, ll. 17-23; R. 424, ll. 23-25. He was taken to the Richland County Sheriff's Office Headquarters, interrogated by Investigator Ronnie Hinson (Inv. Hinson), and provided a statement. R. 82, l. 24—R. 83, l. 9.

His case proceeded to trial from September 6th through 9th, 2019. R. 1. During pretrial motions, Counsel for Appellant (Counsel) moved to suppress *inter alia* an autopsy photograph depicting Meatball's foot and blood in his crotch area. R. 36, ll. 3-14. The trial court held that the State was permitted to demonstrate the wound to Meatball's foot with a picture showing the

⁶ Although the pathologist would later testify to multiple gunshot wounds, cause of death was two gunshot wounds to the torso. R. 263, l. 13—R. 264, l. 14; R. 285, ll. 17-19; R. 287, ll. 2-8.

⁷ No firearm was found or recovered. R. 231, l. 19—R. 232, l. 1.

foot with a trajectory rod through it if the State cropped-out the excessive blood from Meatball's crotch area in order to let the State show the angle of the wound. R. 36, l. 23—R. 37, l. 20.

Counsel maintained the objection to the photoshopped autopsy picture again immediately prior to the pathologist's testimony on the basis of Rule 403, and that there were other accurate ways to show the same information to the jury without resorting to the autopsy photograph. The court again determined the photograph was admissible, subject to proper foundation. R. 259, ll. 4-22. Dr. Darren Monroe (Dr. Monroe) testified for the State as an expert in forensic pathology, and utilized two diagrams depicting most of the wounds on Meatball found during autopsy except the wound to the foot, and testified in depth regarding the same based upon the diagrams. R. 260, l. 25—R. 261, l. 4; R. 262, ll. 15-16; R. 264, l. 11—R. 275, l. 18; R. 525; R. 526. Yet the State still sought admission of the photoshopped autopsy photograph of Meatball's foot with a rod through it; Counsel objected during Dr. Monroe's testimony, and the court admitted the photograph. R. 276, ll. 11-17; State's Exhibit #12. Dr. Monroe testified to the contents of the photograph. He also demonstrated the locations of all of Meatball's entry and exit wounds—including the foot—on a mannequin before the jury. R. 279, ll. 14-17; R. 280, l. 17—R. 284, l. 15.

Appellant also testified at his trial. Prior to Appellant taking the stand, Counsel objected to the State's introduction of photographs that were purportedly printed from Appellant's social media and only shown to Counsel during the break immediately beforehand, arguing that they were highly prejudicial. R. 348, ll. 7-11. The State acknowledged as much as follows:

They're from his Facebook account and they show him with various weaponry. One is almost identical to the one he describes used in this incident and I do not intend to introduce them. I intend to show him on the stand, again depending on the line of questioning, you know, I, I think it's relevant here based on the facts of this case.

R. 348, ll. 13-19. The court determined that the matter would have to be taken up as it came. R. 348, ll. 20-21. During direct examination, Appellant denied bringing a gun to Neco's house on November 24, 2019. R. 379, ll. 14-15. On cross-examination, Appellant admitted he owned guns in the past, but that he stopped "toting guns after a certain point in time" and no longer had them. R. 390, l. 15—R. 391, l. 16.

Further, on redirect examination, Appellant explained he stopped carrying guns before meeting Jackson, but after he met her, part of their relationship meant "[n]o guns, no drugs, [and] getting [an] education." R. 440, l. 13—R. 441, l. 5. During recross-examination, the State asked the following questions in open court:

Q. Are we were to believe that you did not have a gun on this particular night?

A. Correct.

Q. Even though *we got a picture of you posing with the exact same gun?*

R. 445, ll. 17-21 (emphasis added). Counsel immediately objected as Appellant attempted to answer the State's question as mischaracterization. R. 445, l. 22—R. 446, l. 6. The trial court overruled Counsel's objection stating, "He answered." R. 446, l. 5. Appellant continued to explain the guns in pictures from his social media posts were BB guns and props. R. 445, l. 25—R. 446, l. 2; R. 447, ll. 11-18. Yet the prosecutor further linked the details of the photograph with the firearm in the case:

Q. Okay, same kind you posed with in the picture, a chrome and black Smith & Wesson? That's what it was?

A. Nah, the pictures that you got are just props and BB guns.

R. 447, ll. 11-15.

After deliberations, the jury ultimately found Appellant guilty on both counts. The trial court imposed an aggregate sentence of thirty-five (35) years incarceration.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court reversibly erred in admitting into evidence an autopsy photograph depicting the decedent's foot with a rod shoved through the gunshot wound where the cause of death was neither caused by the wound to decedent's foot, nor was the cause of death at issue, and where the wound was illustrated by other evidence.

The trial court erroneously admitted an autopsy photograph into evidence depicting a Meatball's foot with a metal rod stuck through a hole in it. State's Exhibit # 12. Counsel timely objected based upon Rule 403, and maintained that there were other accurate ways to show the same information to the jury without resorting to the autopsy photograph. R. 259, ll. 4-22. The court again determined the photograph was admissible, subject to proper foundation. R. 259, ll. 4-22. This was error as the photograph was not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions, and its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice by creating a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.

“Although photographs may be used to corroborate other evidence, it is well established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial.” State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (internal citations omitted) (reversing and remanding where the information contained in the photographs was not really at issue, and other testimony negated any arguable evidentiary value of the photographs); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); State v. Waitus, 224 S.C. 12, 77 S.E.2d 256, 263 (1953); State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 483, 688 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2010) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); see also Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence); Rule 402, SCRE (prohibiting admission of irrelevant evidence). Stated differently, “[p]hotographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are . . . not *necessary* to substantiate

material facts or conditions.” State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010)).

Additionally, Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence allows for even relevant evidence to be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 370 (1995) (“It is well settled that evidence should be excluded when its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.”). In order to constitute unfair prejudice, “the photographs must create a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, although not necessarily, an emotional one.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991); see also State v. Nelson, Op. No. 28171 (S.C Sup.Ct. filed Aug. 9, 2023) (Howard Adv.Sh. No. 31 at 30) (holding “it was error to admit the photos because their minimal probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.”).

In the present case, the autopsy photograph utilized by the State was not necessary to establish any material facts or circumstances. By the time the State elicited testimony regarding the autopsy photograph and was permitted to enter it into evidence, Dr. Monroe had already utilized two diagrams depicting most wounds on Meatball found during autopsy excluding the foot, and testified in depth to the same—including the two fatal shots to the torso—based upon the diagrams. R. 260, l. 25—R. 261, l. 4; R. 262, ll. 15-16; R. 264, l. 11—R. 275, l. 18; R. 525; R. 526. In fact, after introducing the autopsy photograph of Meatball’s foot, the State had Dr. Monroe further demonstrate the locations of all gunshots on a mannequin before the jury—including the gunshot wound to Meatball’s foot. R. 279, ll. 4-17; R. 282, l. 19—R. 283, l. 22.

Moreover, to the extent that the gunshot wound to Meatball's foot was relevant to the State's theory of what occurred in the bedroom on November 24, 2019, Dr. Monroe's testimony on cross-examination confirmed that he could neither determine the order in which the multiple gunshots occurred, nor could he say what position Meatball was in when shot with any of the shots. R. 286, ll. 23-24; R. 291, ll. 16-20. Thus, the autopsy photograph was not necessary to establish any material facts or circumstances.

Additionally, the photographs were not needed to prove the elements of murder.⁸ The cause of death by two gunshot wounds to the torso was established by Dr. Monroe's testimony and through the use of his diagrams. Additionally, the wound to Meatball's foot was likewise described by testimony and demonstrated before the jury on a mannequin. Therefore, the photoshopped autopsy picture of meatball's foot was not necessary to substantiate material facts; rather, it was hardly 'necessary, and was of little significance to the State's case. Collins, 398 S.C. at 202, 727 S.E.2d at 754 (citing Torres, 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 228). Accordingly, the probative value of the photographs in question was, at best, minimal.

Yet the autopsy photograph served to create an unfair prejudice against Appellant; it displayed to the jury close-up imagery of Meatball's remains with a rod shoved through a hole in his foot. As in Waitus, the information contained in these photos was not disputed, and was established by testimony. 224 S.C. 12, 77 S.E.2d at 263 (reversing where four pictures of the victim at the crime scene that showed marks, bruises and abrasions, and the condition of the victim's clothes, were admitted into evidence even though that those facts were not disputed and were already established by testimony); see also Collins, 398 S.C. at 203-04, 727 S.E.2d at 755.

⁸ Murder is defined as "the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (West, Westlaw current through end of 2023 Sess); see also State v Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 119 n.5, 716 S.E.2d 895, 905 n.5 (2011).

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