**RECEIVED**

**May 23 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Richland County

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAYLEN WESTLY BELL,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2022-001541

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

BYRON E. GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
1701 Main Street  
P.O. Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29201

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

overwhelming evidence disproving self-defense, the photograph itself was not so prejudicial as to have reasonably affected the outcome of the trial nor did it deprive Appellant of a fair trial.

### *Harmless Error*

“In applying the harmless error rule, the court must be able to declare the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial and the court must be able to declare such belief beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 165, 467 S.E.2d 272, 277 (Ct.App.1996) (emphasis added) (citing *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). “To say that an error did not ‘contribute’ to the ensuing verdict is not, of course, to say that the jury was totally unaware of that feature of the trial....” *Collins*, 409 S.C.at 538, 763 S.E.2d at 29 (quoting *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 166, 420 S.E.2d 838 (1992)). Rather, “[t]o say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is ... to find that error unimportant *in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question*, as revealed in the record.” *Id.* (quoting *Arnold*, at 166, 420 S.E.2d at 839 (emphasis in original). “Another description frequently cited is that error ‘is harmless where a defendant’s guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.’” *Collins*, at 29-30, 763 S.E.2d at 538 (quoting *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006)).

Even if error (which it is not), omitting the error, a reasonable jury could evaluate the evidence presented and come to the conclusion of guilt. Again, there is no basis to find the photo was gory as to raise emotion, and the trajectory of the other bullets, including the bullets begin found in the mattress, (R. p. 237, l. 9 – 243, l. 7),<sup>7</sup> supporting the trajectory of bullets higher on the body. Further still, there is Applicant’s calm demeanor after the shooting, (R. p. 417, l. 9 – p. 508, line 16), and his flight, checking back with his girlfriend as to whether she spoke with police, (R.

---

<sup>7</sup> A photograph of same was admitted, showing both blood and the rods, without objection. (R. p. 243, ll. 7-15, 246, ll. 13-25; State Exhibit 4, 9 and 10).

p. 419, l. 23 – p. 424, l. 21). *See State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006) (“Flight evidence is relevant when there is a nexus between the flight and the offense charged.”).

What the jury heard and saw without State’s Exhibit 12, was sufficient to carry the State’s burden. The photograph alone did not unfairly prejudice Appellant. Error, if any, could only be harmless.

However, the State maintains no error occurred, Applicant has failed to show an abuse of discretion in the trial court’s careful ruling. The ruling should be affirmed.

**II. Appellant is procedurally barred from raising a Rule 608(b) issue on appeal because counsel did not object to the State’s questions under Rule 608(b) but only on grounds of prejudice and mischaracterization of the evidence in the question. Alternatively, Appellant cannot show reversible error where the photographs referenced in the questions were not admitted, and the State did not go beyond the bounds of proper cross-examination by questioning Appellant based on Appellant’s admissions of having had guns, and that he had posted photographs on social media posing with what appeared to be a silver and black handgun similar to the one he described he used to kill the victim.**

Rule 608(b), SCRE allows cross-examination by questioning on specific conduct that may shed light on the truthfulness of the witness’s testimony. However, extrinsic evidence may not be presented to prove that conduct. *Id.* “Appellate courts ‘will not disturb a trial court’s ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.’” *State v. Hawes*, 423 S.C. 118, 135, 813 S.E.2d 513, 522 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012)). However, “[i]n order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (citing *Humbert v. State*, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001)).

Appellant claims the trial court erred in allowing certain questions on cross-examination as the facts show a Rule 608(b) error. (BOA, pp. 14-18). Appellant’s issue was not properly preserved to review and review on the merits is barred. However, had the issue been preserved, it would still afford no relief as the argument presented lacks merits.

#### ***Relevant Facts***

Bell testified at trial that he took the victim’s gun away from him and shot him eight times.

The gun was never found. Appellant testified that he left the gun on the couch as he left the home; that Bell exited Neco's home, tossing the gun on the couch on his way out. (R. p. 377, ll. 15-18). The gun was not found by responding officers.

Neco testified that she did not allow guns in the residence and that she would have called the police and kicked Mr. Floyd, the victim, out if she had found out he had a firearm in the home. (R. p. 70, ll. 2-10).

Jaquala often shared a room with victim in Neco's home. She testified that she had told Investigator Hinson that victim did not have a gun in Neco's house on the night of the shooting, but he did carry a pocketknife. (R. p. 189, ll. 15-18; R. p. 214. l. – p. 215, l.7). Jaquala also testified that she did not know what happened to the gun used to kill victim that night and that there was no gun left on the couch<sup>8</sup>. (R. p. 216 l. 22 – p. 217, l. 2).

On direct examination, homicide Investigator Ronnie Hinson of the Richland County Sheriff's Department, testified that the casings found at the scene were 9-millimeter casings, and in fact, Appellant had told investigators that the gun he took from the victim during a struggle was "a Smith & Wesson, chrome and black, ... 9-millimeter" firearm. (R. p. 121, ll. 8-12). Investigator Hinson testified that Appellant's identification of the firearm surprised him considering that in his experience, somebody struggling in a life and death situation usually could only identify the color and size of the firearm. (R. p. 121, ll. 1-12). Crime scene Investigator Robert Oates of the Richland County Sheriff's Department testified that the gun used in the shooting was never recovered, and

---

<sup>8</sup> Jaquala called 911 a few minutes after the incident. She testified that she realized the victim had been shot after hearing gunshots and finding him in the back room lying on the bed. She testified that she saw Appellant leave the room and exit through the door. She did not mention anything about Appellant throwing the gun on the couch. (R. p. 193 l. 13 – p. 194. l. 13). On cross examination, Jaquala testified that she did not go looking for a gun. (R. p. 208. ll. 14-15).

ultimately a total of seven (7) 9-millimeter casings were found at the scene. (R. p. 231, l.19 – p. 232, l. 1, R. p. 250 ll. 4-13).

Stephanie, Appellant's girlfriend, testified that Appellant would normally carry a gun in his waistband and kept it hidden under his shirt so no one would see it. (R. p. 174, l. 21 – p. 176, l. 2).

The following discussion with the court took place outside the presence of the jury prior to Appellant taking the stand:

Ms. Bruck: Your Honor, Mr. Scott also, just during the break showed me a number of photos that he's printed off of social media that I guess he intends to introduce. They're highly prejudicial. Some of them don't identify Mr. Bell [Appellant] but many of them do.

The Court: What, what are the photos?

Solicitor Scott: They're from his Facebook account and they show him with various weaponry. One is almost identical to the one he describes used in this incident and I do not intend to introduce them. I intend to show him on the stand, again depending on the line of questioning, you know. I think it's relevant here based on the facts of this case.

The Court: All right. We'll have to take them up as they come up.

(R. p. 348 ll. 7-22).

On cross examination, Appellant was asked if he had ever owned a black and chrome gun before. Appellant replied that he had a lot of guns but that he did not recall a black and chrome one. The prosecutor asked Appellant if he had ever posed in pictures with a chrome and black gun.

Q. Haven't you – Jaylen, haven't you had a chrome and black gun before?

A. I had lots of guns. But, you know, I don't really recall a chrome and black one.

- Q. You don't remember ever having a chrome and black gun?
- A. Nah, I had a few but I don't –
- Q. Have you ever posed in pictures with a chrome and black gun?
- A. Nah, you know, I got a few homeboys that be rapping, you know, and stuff like that. You know, we be doing music videos and stuff like that. So, you know, we have a lot of props if I'm not mistaken if that's what they called.
- Q. Okay. And you – all right. So if I – if you posed with a chrome and black gun in the past, that was like maybe a toy gun or a prop or something?
- A. That's very possible. Yeah.
- Q. But probable it was an actual gun.
- A. No, I, I don't know.
- Q. What?
- A. I – the pictures that, you know, I post and stuff like that, it's like maybe from like music videos and stuff like that.
- Q. Okay.
- A. You know, maybe they'll take a picture from like the, you know, the scene of the music videos to got - - I mean, excuse me, excuse my language, to promote, you know, a music video and a song, stuff like that. I don't rap but, you know, I have homeboys that rap. You know they do stuff like that.
- Q. You borrow their guns?
- A. No, I don't borrow their guns, you know. We using props for the videos and stuff like that.
- Q. But I'm telling you - - when you take pictures with the guns-

A. The props.

Q. The props. Okay. Do you remember posing with a prop gun that was chrome and black like the one you described?

A. Not really but that's very possible though.

Ms. Bruck: Your Honor, he said it's possible.

The Court: I heard him.

(R. p. 410 – 411, l. 18).

The State then showed Appellant a picture from social media where Appellant was posing with a chrome and black gun, and asked:

Q. Is that a prop gun?

A. Oh yeah that's a prop gun. That was - - actually that occurred in Lincolnshire. My homeboy was about to do a music video on Calgary Drive. What they call 300 block.

Q. That's a chrome and black gun though?

A. Yeah, *it kinda look like it* if I'm not mistaken.

Q. Okay. And then that one you're posing with, is that a prop gun too?

A. Oh no. Actually in - - you can see it in there if you look pretty close. Those are BB guns. The ones that in his hand is a HBG BB gun. You get those from Wal-mart. And the one that's in my hand, the bottom of it's peeling but you can't really see it in that video. But they're plastic BB gun. They don't even blow back or nothing but this one does though - -

(R. p. 411, l. 19 – 412, l. 8) (emphasis added).

As Appellant notes in his brief, on recross examination the prosecutor asks:

Q. And we are to believe that you did not have a gun on this particular night?

A. Correct.

Q. Even though we got a picture of you posing with the exact same gun?

Ms. Bruck: Objection.

A: Nah.

Ms. Bruck: That's mischaracterizing –

A. Nah, that's props.

Ms. Bruck: the evidence

A. - - And just BB guns

Ms. Bruck: Your Honor, it's mischaracterizing the evidence.

The Court: Overruled. He answered.

(R. p. 445, l. 17- 446, l. 5).

The solicitor continued to question Appellant on his familiarity with guns and how he was able to identify the gun used in the shooting, asking:

Q. But isn't it extraordinary that the casings found on the bed were 9-millimeter casings? So you were right.

A. Yeah.

Q. Maybe it's cause it was your gun?

A. Nah, not at all.

Q. Okay. Same kind you posed with in the picture, a chrome and black Smith & Wesson? That's what it was?

A. Nah, the pictures you got are just props and BB guns.

Q. But you're saying that day in question it was a chrome and black 9-millimeter Smith & Wesson.

A. Correct.

(R. p. 447 ll. 5-18).

Appellant admitted to having “owned a lot of guns,” having carried weapons, and that he would put his gun in his waistband and use his shirt to cover the gun, but testified that he eventually “gave away” all his real ones. (R. p. 390, l. 18 – R. p. 391, l.16).

In closing arguments, the State argued the evidence disproved self-defense. The solicitor emphasized Stephanie’s testimony about Appellant regularly carrying a gun in his waist band and beneath his shirt, Appellant owning “more guns than he can count,” the trajectory of the bullets conflicting with Appellant’s version of events, and testimony stating the victim did not have a gun in the room at the time of the shooting. (R. p. 466, ll. 4-6; R. p. 468 ll. 21-24; R. p. 473, l.7 – p. 474, l. 12). He also argued:

There’s four things required for a valid self-defense. You can’t be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. I submit to you he fails right there. I submit to you when you are a man armed with a gun, chrome and black 9-millimeter, Smith & Wesson, had just completed illicit drug transactions with a one year old, and then you go to confront somebody in their own bedroom, I submit to you he fails, number one because he is most certainly at fault in engaging in what ended up being a fatal encounter.

(R. p. 474, l. 21 – p. 475, l. 4).

### *Discussion*

Appellant is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal as the issue was not properly preserved for appellate review. Defense counsel objected to the photographs on the grounds of prejudice and mischaracterization, not Rule 608(b). Additionally, even if a Rule 608(b) objection was properly raised, there exists sufficient evidence to support the trial court permitting the prosecution to show the photographs to Appellant on the stand. An abuse of discretion occurs

when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). The trial record shows no error either in fact or law in allowing the questions and impeachment.

### ***Procedural Bar***

Appellant's objection that the photos were "prejudicial" does not reference Rule 608(b) and proper scope of questioning. (*See R.* p. 348 ll. 7-11). Because trial counsel only objected to the prejudicial effect of the photographs and did not include a sufficiently specific reason for an objection related to Rule 608(b), Appellant's issue is not preserved. *Dunbar, supra*.

Additionally, Appellant's counsel did not object to the line of questioning which Appellant himself conceded to posing in photographs with prop and BB guns in efforts of denying owning a gun identical to the weapon used in the shooting. (*R.* p. 410 – 411, ll. 1-16). Counsel also did not object at the time the photographs were presented to Appellant to review, nor when Appellant further discussed the use of props in the photographs. (*R.* p. 411, l. 19 – 414, l. 6). Again, no part of the issue was preserved for appeal. *Id.* *See also State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997) (defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal).

Further, Appellant had already described the photographs later shown to him on cross examination, without interruption or objection, and insisted the photos showed a "prop" rather than a gun. In other words, the objection was fruitless, and the point had already been made to the jury. The late objection would not have been sufficient to preserve a "prejudice" argument. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448–49 (2003) (stating the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence). At any rate, Appellant cannot show error, much less reversible error.

*Alternatively, the Issue Lacks Merit*

Even if defense counsel would have raised a Rule 608(b) objection, such grounds would not survive the trial court's scrutiny because Appellant identified the missing gun that was used in the shooting and the photographs show him holding an almost identical gun to the one which *he himself described to investigators*. (R. p 348, ll. 7-19).

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